PROMOTING YOUTH LEADERSHIP IN DEMOCRATIC GOVERNANCE Training Manual







FOREWORD

Twenty-three years after the genocide against the Tutsi, Rwanda has made remarkable progress in many sectors of national development. Young people in Rwanda have played an immense role in the reconstruction struggle and social changes that have accompanied this development. As a result of these contributions and efforts, a strong foundation for youth participation was developed. Still, despite their efforts and past involvement in public life, today Rwandan youth struggle to influence policymakers and have access to opportunities to participate in decision-making.

This is in part due to the limited role that Rwandan youth play in Rwandan society, little progress has been made in the way of youth involvement in Rwanda's public decision-making. But today our youth can provide new perspectives on the direction of Rwanda. Although they are sometimes swept up in the rhetoric of ethnic division, they are more than often open to the idea of equality and promoting policies that would promote this idea. Therefore, it is pertinent that we listen to what they have to say and allow them to have a prominent voice in determining what is best for the future of Rwanda.

Through the Youth Leadership Academy Project, Never Again Rwanda is empowering young people to become active citizens and responsible leaders of their communities. Never Again Rwanda believes youth are future leaders who will be able to use their new skills in leading change and making a positive contribution. This manual is to inspire youth to embrace democratic values, peaceful dialogue and work together towards positive change.

NAR's long-term experience in working with youth reveals that many young men and women join NAR programs with little confidence, feeling disempowered and isolated. That's why by the end of this project NAR wish to see youth that have grown in confidence and are fully engaged in working together to make their ideas a reality.

Effective participation of young people in policymaking processes and in the implementation of national development programs can only be possible through the active participation of youth alongside the leadership skills they need to develop.

To analyse the importance of young people's participation in a democratic society, one has to understand several key points:

- why youth often do not develop a greater sense of responsibility;
- ii. understanding that participation is a responsibility;
- how policy can ensure the participation of youth; iii.
- iv. how young people should engage constructively in the governance processes;
- what kind of skills are required of young people when communicating with policymakers; and ٧.
- How the right to participation should be better addressed among youth. vi.

It is not likely, nor should it be expected, that every young person will be interested in politics. Even so, the degree of disengagement among youth from political processes can be viewed as negatively high, particularly in Rwanda due to its bitter historical background of the role, the youth played during the genocide, even in instances where political processes directly affect their lives.

We hope that this manual will be useful to all leaders and civil society organizations to train youth leaders who will work with young men and women in an effort to change their mind-set by strengthening their capacities, improve their confidence and tackling the root causes of their non-participation in politics; and support them to develop sustainable and joint mechanisms that offer opportunities for participating in dialogues on rights, principles and democratic issues. This manual also provides tips and insights on how power holders can involve youth in decision-making processes.

Importantly, we hope the content of this manual will help in addressing youth capacity issues such as dialogue, research, mentorship, accompaniment and social media to boost their skills and confidence and will strengthen the capacities of local leaders to champion and be responsive to youth needs and responsibilities and jointly create avenues as well as initiatives that would address the youth challenges.

Dr Joseph Ryarasa Nkurunziza **Executive Director** Never Again Rwanda

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

This manual evolved from "Youth Leadership Academy" which is a one year project funded by NED, implemented by Never Again Rwanda. The overarching project goal is to empower young people in political parties to vibrantly participate in policy making processes and to have a voice in politics and decision making. The project will target youth from the 11 political parties in Rwanda to build their capacities to meaningfully participate in decision making in their political parties.

The specific objective of the project is to support youth to express and debate their views on democratic values, take leadership roles in political participation.

Never Again Rwanda sincerely appreciates the financial and technical support of NED. This has enabled us to develop and publish this manual which will be used in the training of youth champions.

Never Again Rwanda

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	66
TRAINING OBJECTIVES	6
EXPECTED OUTCOMES	7
TRAINING METHODOLOGY	7
TRAINING PARTICIPANTS	7
GROUND RULES AND NOTE TO THE FACILITATOR	7
MODULE I: HUMAN RIGHTS AND SOCIAL JUSTICE	8
Definition of Human Rights	8
Categories of human rights	9
Characteristics of Human Rights	9
Fundamental principles of human rights	10
Source of Human Rights	10
Human Rights in the Constitution of the Republic of Rwanda of 2003 Revised in 2015	10
Gender and human rights	11
Human rights and good governance	12
Democracy	13
Hypothetical cases	16
MODULE II: POLITICAL CONTEXT AND YOUTH PARTICIPATION IN DEMOCRATIC GOVERNANCE	17
Definition, brief history and understanding of democracy	17
Youth participation and leadership (duties and responsibilities) in the democratic process	19
Youth engagement in policy and decision-making processes	19
Youth engagement in policy and decision-making processes	19
Gender equality and democracy	20
Democratic Theory and Gender	20
MODULE III: LEADERSHIP SKILLS AND RESPONSIBLE DECISION-MAKING	21
Critical Thinking	21
Empathy, Appreciation for Diversity and Open Mindedness	23
Stereotypes and Prejudices	24
Rumours' and Evidence	24
Blind Obedience/ Self responsibility/ Reflecting Skills/ Manipulation	24
Confidence building and public debate	27
CONCLUSION	28
BIBLIOGRAPHY	29

INTRODUCTION

Youth Leadership Academy is a one year project funded by NED, implemented by Never Again Rwanda. The overarching project goal is seeks to empower young people in political parties to vibrantly participate in policy making processes and to have a voice in politics and decision making. The project will target youth from the 11 political parties in Rwanda to build their capacities to meaninafully participate in decision making in their political parties. The project will be implemented over one year and will build on initiatives that have been undertaken in the past by NAR and other organisations. The project seeks to develop and nurture future youth leaders, who are critical thinkers.

Young people between the ages of 15 and 35 constitute one-third of Africa's population. However, youth's influence on national politics remains limited. There is a general sense that traditional politics and representative democracy—whereby voters determine the outcome of power struggles at the ballot box—fail to attract the attention of younger cohorts who feel alienated from political processes. Recent events have shown that youth are critical in bringing about social and political transformation in Africa. In Rwanda, youth constitute 61.5% of the active population and are therefore a significant force to be recognized. During the Genocide against the Tutsis, the youth were manipulated by the politicians to commit heinous crimes this was partly possible because the youth did not have critical thinking skills and did not participate in decision-making.

As a result, the government encourages the youth to be politically active and participate in the decisionmaking processes as President Paul Kagame recently said: "If you don't get involved in politics, bad politics takes care of you and the next day you are led by people you don't deserve. But it is not just about being President, it is not a right. Aspire to be a leader, even a President. But above all aspire to be a good leader. That's what Rwandans need and deserve. Reject the idea that someone else is better than you and has the right to tell you what you should be."

Some of the factors that hinder youth participation include: elected youth leaders neither have training nor the capacity building opportunities, thus fail in their roles and responsibilities nor lack responsive projects because youth are not consulted.

Additional factors hindering youth participation are limited economic and job opportunities, inadequate access to social and political rights, lack of proper mentorship, poor education and critical thinking, interlinked problems of social isolation and low engagement in their communities, lack of self-esteem and a lack of linkage between the youth and local leaders.

When young people think of politics, they think of corruption, inflexible bureaucracy, and the limited power they have to change the environment around them. Rarely do young people see a place for themselves in the political processes of their country; this, in turn, seriously undermines the possibility of young people developing a real sense of responsibility. Youth participation is an integral part of democratic societies, but without a sense of responsibility, the social integration of youth and their cohesion in society is impossible.

Young people prefer not to get involved in political processes because they feel that the system has failed and will continue to fail them. Faced with the lack of educational and employment opportunities, risks of disease, genocide and armed conflicts, the majority of young people in the developing world worry about how to survive instead of working to solve the problems of their society as a whole. This manual, is intended for a training that aims at increasing meaningful youth participation in democratic governance.

TRAINING OBJECTIVES

The overall objective is to build the capacities of the youth in leadership, human rights and democracy. More specifically, this training seeks:

- To enhance the awareness and knowledge of youth and decision-makers by equipping them with knowledge and skills on human rights, governance processes, accountable and responsive leadership and working of multi-party democracy;
- To build the confidence of the youth for their meaningful participation into political processes.
- To enhance their participation in political processes through critical thinking skills as a tool for good leadership

EXPECTED OUTCOMES

The key outcomes of the training will include but is not limited to:

- Awareness being raised amongst the youth on issues of democratic process, rights and governance;
- Trained youth are able to confidently participate in the democratic, decision-making and public policy formulation processes;
- Youth are empowered, through information dissemination, to be able and willing to actively engage in processes that address social, economic and political issues in the country.
- Increased youth influence in political processes.

TRAINING METHODOLOGY

The training for which this manual has been designed is expected to take 5 days. The training methodology relies on a participatory approach with the trainer acting as a facilitator. The facilitator should stimulate learning using adult learning principles, drawing from realistic local case studies and allowing participants to share their experiences in order to ensure there is a fruitful interaction between the user of this manual (the trainer) and the participants (trainees).

Throughout the training, emphasis should be placed on the practical tips and follow up activities which the youth leaders should engage in to increase their meaningful participation as key actors in the governance and development processes. Although this is a training manual, it can be used as reference material for youth leaders who may or may not have undertaken the training.

TRAINING PARTICIPANTS

The training targets youth champions from the political parties, Civil Society Organisations (CSOs), Representatives of the National Youth Council, youth leaders and district officer in charge of youth, sports and culture and youth involved in existing NAR clubs and associations.

GROUND RULES AND NOTE TO THE FACILITATOR

"The best leaders understand the need to 'walk the talk' — that, their behaviour and day-to-day actions have to match the aspirations they have for the 'world'." (Bill Taylor)

"Become the change you wish to see in the world and, it will happen." (Mahatma Gandhi)

Professional ethics and standards

- Appreciate diversity
- Be prepared and professional
- Create a supportive learning environment
- Give appropriate credit to the work of others
- Evaluate learners' performance, not their personalities
- Know and stay abreast on issues around your subject area
- Maintain confidentiality
- Obtain permission to use the work of others
- Treat all learners with respect

Parking lot or Storage

When learner's come up with ideas that you'd like to address later, or which you'd like to protect and honour, but don't have time to deal with in depth at the moment, have a sheet of flipchart or butcher paper on the wall and label it "Parking Lot." It can be useful just to have a place to display concerns, and to return to it at a later time to address issues as appropriate.

Storytelling or recap from the day before

A powerful story can reinforce learning like few other techniques. If you tell a story, there is a good chance that that is what the learners will remember at the end of the day. You can also ask learners to tell stories. The "voice of experience" or "my human rights" story is just an example. Learners can also tell stories together alongside the guidance from the day before. For example (rights, involvement, responsibility) two or three people can create a story to recap events from the day before.



MODULE I: HUMAN RIGHTS AND SOCIAL JUSTICE



BENEFICIARIES

Though this session is designed for youth champions, the ultimate beneficiaries of this session will be the Rwandan youth including but not limited to youth from political parties, youth associations, youth clubs and cooperatives.

Therefore targeting the younger generation is the entry point and since young people are potential agents of change the intended activities would have far-reaching implications for their respect of diversity and difference.

Instructions to the user of this Manual:

Before providing a definition of human rights, the trainer shall ask the participants to define "Human Rights" and the trainer will write on a flipchart, key elements provided by the participants and then compare them with the definition he/she will provide.



Instructions to the user of this Manual:

Before providing a definition of human rights, the trainer shall ask the participants to define "Human Rights" and the trainer will write on a flipchart, key elements provided by the participants and then compare them with the definition he/she will provide.

Definition of Human Rights

Exercise 1: Understanding the Concept of Rights

Purpose: The purpose of the session is to understand the concept of Rights and Human Rights

Materials: Flip Chart, Marker

Time: 20 Minutes

Procedure:

- 1. Write the word "Rights" and "Responsibilities" on a flip chart
- 2. Ask the participants what they think Rights and Responsibilities are.
- 3. Keep on getting responses until you get the definition of 'rights' from the participants
- 4. Sum up the responses of the participants and tell them the definition of Human Rights

Exercise 2: Characteristics of Human Rights

Purpose: To introduce participants to the characteristics of Human Rights

Materials: Flip Chart, Marker

"Imagine that you have discovered a new country, where no-one has lived before, and where there are no laws and no rules. You and the other members of your group will be the settlers in this new land. You do not know what status you will have in this new land."

Individually, each participant should write a list of three rights which they think should be guaranteed for everyone in this new country. Ask the pupils to share and discuss their lists within their group. The group should then agree on a list of 10 rights which it thinks are important. The group should then invent a name for the country and write it on a large piece of paper together with the list of rights.

Each group presents its list to the rest of the class. As they do this, make a note of each 'right' on a class list; if 'rights' are repeated, put a cross next to them. Once all the groups have made their presentations, ask the class to identify rights which overlap or contradict each other:

Questions could then be asked on the following topics:

- Did your ideas about which rights were most important change during the activity?
- Are there any rights which you would now want to add to the list?
- Are human rights universal?

What are human rights? Human Rights are rights inherent to all human beings, whatever our nationality, place of residence, sex, national or ethnic origin, colour, religion or language. We are all equally entitled to human rights without discrimination. These rights are all interrelated, interdependent and indivisible. Human Rights are often expressed and guaranteed by law, in the forms of treaties, customary international law, national laws, general principles and other sources of international law.

Categories of human rights



Instructions to the user of this Manual:

The trainer should ask the participants if they believe some human rights are more important than others, to name those rights and the reasons why they should be more important.

The three generations of human rights are identified as civil and political rights; economic, social and cultural rights; and collective rights of peoples.

- Civil and political rights: The enjoyment of these rights does not require resources from the Government. Example: the right to create a family and, freedom of religion
- **Economic, social and cultural rights:** The realization of these rights requires the availability of resources. Examples: the right to food and, the right to education
- Collective rights of people: rights that the individual person enjoys not purely as an individual, but as a member of a community. Included in this category are rights to peace; the right to natural resources and wealth of the country; the right to a clean and satisfactory environment and related rights.

The categorization or classification of generations of human rights does not necessarily mean or imply that each successive generation is replaced by the one preceding it.

Characteristics of Human Rights



Instructions to the user of this Manual:

The trainer could ask the participants to discuss the characteristics of human rights (Universal, inherent, interdependent, indivisible and interrelated) and give examples. After writing down the characteristics provided by the participants, the trainer would compare them with the points numbered below.

At the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action, World Conference on Human Rights, 1993, the following were confirmed to be the characteristics of Human Rights:

1. Inalienable

Human rights are inalienable. Human rights are absolute. They should not be taken away, except in specific situations and according to due process (for example: imprisonment).

Human rights are universal. This means that they are applicable to ALL human beings.

3. Indivisible

Human rights are indivisible. There should be no classification as to which rights are more important than others, or must come first before other rights.

4. Interdependent

Human Rights are interdependent. This means that the violation of a given right can compromise the enjoyment of another right.

5. Inherent

Human Rights are inherent. This means that rights do not have to be given, bought, earned or inherited by people. The rights are inherent because a person is born with them.

Fundamental principles of human rights

There are three fundamental principles of human rights, as agreed by Human Rights scholars, namely freedom from discrimination, equality before the law and equal protection of the law.

- Discrimination means any distinction, exclusion, restriction or preference which is based on grounds of race, colour, sex, language, religion, political, national or social origin, property, birth, and which has the purpose or effect of nullifying or impairing the recognition, enjoyment or exercise by all persons, on an equal footing, of all rights and freedoms.
- Freedom from discrimination is guaranteed under the Constitution of Rwanda as well as international and regional human rights instruments ratified by the Government of Rwanda.
- The Right to equal protection: right of all persons to have the same access to the law and courts, and to be treated equally by the law and courts, both in procedures and in the substance of the law. This right is guaranteed under the Constitution of Rwanda and other Conventions and Treaties ratified by the Government of Rwanda.

Source of Human Rights



Instructions to the user of this Manual:

The trainer could ask the participants where are human rights found and write down their answers and then compare / complement them with the information in the bullet format.

- The Constitution of Rwanda:
- Other laws (examples: The law on the rights of people with disability, the law on the rights and protection of Child, the Labour Code with some articles protecting the rights of employees /workers)
- International conventions/treaties (example: The International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights);
- Regional conventions/treaties (The African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights).

Rights and Obligations

Human rights entail both rights and obligations. States assume obligations and duties under international law to respect, to protect and to fulfil human rights. The obligation to respect means that States must refrain from interfering with or curtailing the enjoyment of human rights. The obligation to protect requires States to protect individuals and groups against human rights abuses. The obligation to fulfil means that States must take positive action to facilitate the enjoyment of basic human rights. At the individual level, while we are entitled to human rights, we should also respect the human rights of others.

Human Rights in the Constitution of the Republic of Rwanda of 2003 Revised in 2015



Instructions to the user of this Manual:

The trainer should ask the participants if they know of any rights that are contained in the Rwandan Constitution.

Human Rights are guaranteed by the Constitution of Rwanda in Chapter IV: Section One: Rights and Freedoms: Article 12 - Article 43.

Some of the Human Rights guaranteed by the Constitution are:

- Article 12: Right to life: Everyone has the right to life. No one shall be arbitrarily deprived of life.
- Article 13: Inviolability of a human being: A human being is sacred and inviolable. The State has an obligation to respect, protect and defend the human being.
- Article 15: Equality before the law: All persons are equal before the law. They are entitled to equal protection of the law.
- Article 16: Protection from discrimination: All Rwandans are born and remain equal in rights and freedoms. Discrimination of any kind or its propaganda based on, inter alia, ethnic origin, family or ancestry, clan, skin colour or race, sex, region, economic categories, religion or faith, opinion, fortune, cultural differences, language, economic status, physical or mental disability or any other form of discrimination are prohibited and punishable by law.
- Article 20: Right to education: Every Rwandan has the right to education. Freedom of learning and teaching is guaranteed in accordance with conditions determined by law. Primary education is compulsory and free in public schools. Conditions for free primary education in schools subsidized by the Government are determined by law. A law also determines the organization of education.
- Article 21: Right to good health: All Rwandans have the right to good health.
- Article 27: Right to participate in Government and public services: All Rwandans have the right to participate in the Government of the country, either directly or through their freely chosen representatives, in accordance with the law. All Rwandans have the right of equal access to the public service in accordance with their competence and abilities.
- Article 34: Right to private property: Everyone has the right to private property, whether individually or collectively owned. Private property, whether owned individually or collectively, is inviolable. The right to property shall not be encroached upon except in public interest and in accordance with the provisions of the law.
- Article 38: Freedom of press, of expression and of access to information: Freedom of press, of expression and of access to information are recognized and guaranteed by the State. Freedom of expression and freedom of access to information shall not prejudice public order, good morals, the protection of the youth and children, the right of every citizen to honor and dignity and protection of personal and family privacy. Conditions for exercising and respect for these freedoms are determined by law.
- Article 39: Right to freedom of association: The right to freedom of association is guaranteed and does not require prior authorization. This right is exercised under conditions determined by law.
- Article 40: Right to freedom of assembly: The right to freedom of peaceful and unarmed assembly is guaranteed. This right is exercised in accordance with the law. This right does not require prior authorization, except when provided for by the law.
- Article 42: **Promotion of human rights:** The promotion of human rights is a responsibility of the State. This responsibility is particularly exercised by the National Commission for Human Rights. This Commission is independent.
- Article 43: Protection of rights and freedoms: The Judiciary is the guardian of human rights and freedoms. This duty is exercised in accordance with this Constitution and other laws.

Gender and human rights



Instructions to the user of this Manual:

The trainer should ask the participants if they believe that some jobs are specific to men and others are specific to women and why.

Gender inequality: a practice which discriminates an individual based on his or her gender. This can be made through negative stereotype which supports the idea that some people are inferior to other due to their gender and therefore can be denied some rights.

Example: Denying women the right to work because they are women, denying women or young girls to study science by arguing that women should only study social sciences; saying that young women/girls are not allowed to go out in disco /night clubs but young men /boys are allowed to do so.

- Gender inequality is a violation of human rights because it is against the key human rights principles namely the right to non-discrimination and the right to equality before the law and the equal protection.
- Gender Based Violence (GBV): Any act that results in a bodily, psychological, sexual and economic harm to somebody just because they are female or male.
- Gender Based Violence occurs /happens in private and public sphere (family, school, cooperative, workplace, in communities)
- Forms of Gender Based Violence: Gender Based Violence can be physical (beating); emotional (verbal abuse, insult); sexual violence (rape); Sexual abuse (sexual threat or inappropriate touching); sexual exploitation (abuse of the position of vulnerability of an individual for sexual purpose)
- The root cause of gender based violence is the imbalance of power in relationships between men and women.
- Women experience gender based violence more than men.
- Gender Based Violence reinforces gender inequality.
- Gender Based Violence violates the human dignity of the victim.
- Gender Based Violence puts at risk the right to life and the right to health

Human rights and good governance

Good governance and human rights are mutually reinforcing. Human rights principles provide a set of values to guide the work of governments and other political and social actors. They also provide a set of performance standards against which these actors can be held accountable. Moreover, human rights principles inform the content of good governance efforts: they may inform the development of legislative frameworks, policies, programs, budgetary allocations and other measures.

On the other hand, without good governance, human rights cannot be respected and protected in a sustainable manner. The implementation of human rights relies on a conducive and enabling environment. This includes appropriate legal frameworks and institutions as well as political, managerial and administrative processes responsible for responding to the rights and needs of the population.

The links between good governance and human rights can be organized around four areas:

Democratic institutions

When led by human rights values, good governance reforms of democratic institutions create avenues for the public to participate in policymaking either through formal institutions or informal consultations. They also establish mechanisms for the inclusion of multiple social groups in decision-making processes, especially within a local context. . Finally, they may encourage civil society and local communities to formulate and express their positions on issues of importance to them.

Service delivery

In the realm of delivering state services to the public, good governance reforms advance human rights when they improve the state's capacity to fulfil its responsibility to provide public goods which are essential for the protection of a number of human rights, such as the right to education, health and food. Reform initiatives may include mechanisms of accountability and transparency, culturally sensitive policy tools to ensure that services are accessible and acceptable to all, and paths for public participation in decision-making.

Rule of law

When it comes to the rule of law, human rights-sensitive good governance initiatives reform legislation and assist institutions ranging from penal systems to courts and parliaments to better implement that legislation. Good governance initiatives may include advocacy for legal reform, public awarenessraising on the national and international legal framework and capacity-building or reform of institutions.

Anti-Corruption

In fighting corruption, good governance efforts rely on principles such as accountability, transparency and participation to shape anti-corruption measures. Initiatives may include establishing institutions such as anti-corruption commissions, creating mechanisms of information sharing, and monitoring governments' use of public funds and implementation of policies.

Democracy



Instructions to the user of this Manual:

The trainer should ask the participants what they understand by the term 'democracy' and what the elements are.

Human rights and democracy are intricately linked on many different levels. Although our understanding of democracy began to develop long before the creation of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the right to participate is at the heart of democracy. The right of individuals to participate in government is one of the most significant human rights. In turn, democracy provides a favourable environment for the respect, protection, and fulfilment for our human rights and fundamental freedoms.

The word democracy comes from the Greek words demos – meaning people, and kratos – meaning power. As a result, democracy is broadly understood as "the rule of the people" – a system of making rules put together by the very people who must obey them. Today, we often associate democracy with the holding of 'free and fair elections,' although the true nature of democracy and its history are far more complex. Democracy can be understood as a form of government, an idea underlining the sociopolitical and legal organization of the state, as well as an ideology.

Two fundamental principles form the basis of our understanding of democracy. These are the principles of individual autonomy and of equality. The principle of individual autonomy suggests that no one should be subject to rules that have been imposed by others, whereas the principle of equality means that everyone should have the same opportunity to influence the decisions that affect people in society. Democracy therefore lies in stark contrast to other systems, such as oligarchy, plutocracy or dictatorship. These systems usually violate these two principles by giving power only to a certain sector of society, which makes decisions on behalf of the rest of the population, without enabling their participation or input.

Democracy involves the equal right of all people to participate in and be represented by government. It is also about the equal inclusion of all people – the right to be fully included in the civic life of one's community, region, or state. A State or government cannot deny any citizen the right to be included and to participate, although a person can decide for him or herself how actively they exercise this right. Another important element of democratic governance is the notion of pluralism. Pluralism implies affirming that people with different currents of human experience can live together in dignity, under the rule of law, with diversity seen as a source of strength and resilience. Nobody with a justified claim to citizenship or other forms of legal residence can be denied inclusion and human dignity.

Democracy therefore depends on the interest and active participation of its beneficiaries. Being informed and having access to knowledge is an important precondition to meaningful participation in a democratic system. Only people with a basic understanding of how the system works and knowledge of State mechanisms and institutions can contribute to and benefit from a democratic society. Through education and information, individuals can become responsible citizens who are able to participate in and demand accountability from their government.

Our understanding of democracy is closely linked to the promotion and protection of human rights and fundamental freedoms. However, definitions, understanding, and theories of democracy have changed throughout time. In fact, there is no single, identifiable form of democracy, and no perfect democracy exists. We may universally agree on several constitutive elements of democracy, but the importance placed on these elements differs among cultures.

Core Elements of Modern Democracy

As you can see, democracy – as an idea and as a form of government – can differ widely across culture, time, and place. However, there are a number of core elements that modern democracies integrate to some extent. These are often used as indicators to measure progress towards democracy and provide a basis for comparing democracies and other regimes.

- EQUALITY the principle of equality means that all human beings are born equal, should enjoy equal opportunities and participation in the political life of the community, and are entitled to equal treatment before the law. This also includes social and economic equality between men and women.
- PARTICIPATION democracy is meaningless without participation. Participation in community and political affairs is a precondition for building a democratic system. However, participation alone does not guarantee democracy.
- MAJORITY RULE AND MINORITY RIGHTS even though democracy is by definition the rule of the people, it is in fact the rule of the majority. This includes the obligation of the majority consider the needs and rights of minority groups. The extent to which this obligation is met is an indicator for further enhancement of democratic values in a society.
- RULE OF LAW AND FAIR TRIAL applies to the behaviour of government institutions. Democracy is meant to prevent a single person or a small group from ruling over the people. The rule of law ensures that there is legal basis ensuring equality before the law, limiting the power of public authority, and providing equitable access to an independent and fair judiciary.
- COMMITMENT TO HUMAN RIGHTS accepting that all human beings are born equal and free in dignity and rights, is the basis of a functioning democracy community. A democratic state has the obligation to assure the respect, protection, and fulfilment of all human rights in order to ensure that its citizens can live "free from fear and free from want".
- POLITICAL PLURALISM -political parties have the task of consolidating the diversity of ideas and opinions and representing them in the public debate. Only political pluralism can secure structures flexible enough to adapt to changing needs, while remaining a stable ground for democratic governance.
- FREE AND FAIR ELECTIONS elections are a democracy's most fundamental and unique characteristic. No other type of regime leaves the decision on political leadership to those primarily affected by the governmental system - the people. In every election, they can express their desire for change as well as their consent to current policies and participate in a permanent process of evaluation.
- DIVISION OF POWERS the division of powers is a fundamental principle of modern democracies. According to this principle, state power is divided into legislative, executive, and judicial bodies functioning independently, but accountable to each other and to the people. This system of checks and balances is designed to control and prevent the misuse of state power.

Democracy and human rights

Ensuring human rights is a crucial part of ensuring democracy. The Universal Declaration of Human Rights expressly identifies the link between democracy and human rights in Article 21, which states that the "will of the people shall be the basis of the authority of government; this will shall be expressed in periodic and genuine elections which shall be by universal and equal suffrage and shall be held by secret vote or by equivalent free voting procedures." The values of freedom, respect for human rights, and the principle of holding periodic and genuine elections by universal suffrage are essential elements of democracy. In turn, democracy provides the natural environment for the protection and effective realization of universal human rights.

These values are further developed in the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, which enshrines a host of political rights and civil liberties underpinning meaningful democracies. The rights enshrined in the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights and subsequent human rights instruments covering group rights (e.g. indigenous peoples, minorities, people with disabilities) are equally essential for democracy as they ensure an equitable distribution of wealth, and equality and equity in respect of access to civil and political rights. Human rights can only be guaranteed in and through a functioning democracy. However, democracy alone does not guarantee human rights and human security.

Deficiencies in democracy and weak institutions are among the main challenges to the effective realization of human rights. There is an apparent link between undemocratic structures and human rights violations. Yet, even functioning democracies sometimes condone the denial of human rights. As opposed to a violation, or specific breach of rights, the denial of human rights is societal and systematic. This often includes the denial of genuine inclusion and pluralism. For example, even in many advanced democracies, the full inclusion of women or minority populations in circles of power and spheres of influence continues to be denied.

The worldwide implementation of democracy depends on each and every individual being able to make use of one's right to vote, to express opinions, and to participate in political life and decisionmaking. This requires first and foremost, that individuals understand their human rights and fundamental freedoms, and are aware of the mechanisms to support the protection of these rights under their nation's laws. The importance of human rights education is therefore tantamount to the effective realization of human rights and the promotion of democratic governance.

Key human rights for democracy

When discussing democracy, a number of human rights deserve special focus because of their crucial role in protecting and ensuring civic participation. These include a number of rights and freedoms enshrined in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, namely free and fair elections, freedom of assembly, association, expression, and media.

FREE AND FAIR ELECTIONS (Article 21)

The will of the people shall be the basis of the authority of government; this shall be expressed in periodic and genuine elections which shall be by universal and equal suffrage and shall be held by secret vote or by equivalent free voting procedures.

Elections are one of the most defining characteristics associated with modern democracy. They are crucial to ensuring people's participation in governance, through the appointment of elected representatives. Respect for the dignity and human rights of all human beings sets the framework within which rule by elected officials and representatives is situated. Elections are a method of exerting control over lawmakers, because they hold politicians accountable to the people who elected them (at least in theory). This requires that elections are free and fair – every person entitled to vote under the law is able to exercise this right without undue influence. It also requires that politicians believe that they will be held to account by the electorate if they fail to represent their interests.

FREEDOM OF EXPRESSION and MEDIA (Article 19)

Everyone has the right to freedom of opinion and expression, this right includes the freedom to hold opinions without interference and to seek, receive and impart information and ideas through any media and regardless of frontiers.

The freedom of expression is closely linked to freedom of the media. It encompasses the freedom to hold opinions without interference (freedom of opinion) and the freedom to seek, receive, and impart information and ideas (freedom of speech, freedom of information). Freedom of expression therefore encompasses both civil (opinion) and political (expression) rights, which protect an individual's right to receive information and to communicate it. This freedom is closely linked with the freedom of thought, conscience, and religion (Article 18). Free and independent media are an important pillar of every democracy.

In the 'information age,' control over the means of information is almost synonymous with control over decision-making. The media (newspapers, television, radio, and internet) plays a crucial role in the daily life of democracies, providing people with information and the means to communicate. In order to fully participate in a democracy, citizens/voters must be informed about the aims and objectives of those seeking to be elected, and be able to access information to make informed decisions. This information should be provided without undue interference or censorship from those in power.

FREEDOM OF ASSEMBLY and ASSOCIATION (Article 20)

Everyone has the right to freedom of peaceful assembly and association. No one may be compelled to belong to an association.

The right to form groups, to organize, and to assemble together with the aim of addressing issues of common concern is a human right. The ability to organize is an important means by which citizens can influence their governments and leaders. The right to freedom of association is particularly linked to the ability of workers to secure their economic and social status, enabling workers and employers to form organizations and to bargain collectively. These are key rights with regard to democracy, because they enable individuals and groups to come together to influence government, to demand their rights, and to call for change. These are valuable activities that enable individuals to fully participate in democracy.

Hypothetical cases



Instructions to the user of this Manual:

The trainer should use these cases to engage the participants and start a conversation.

- 1. Mr. Barahinda, a young man of 30 years old, wants to run for the presidency in his country, as an independent. Upon submission of his candidature, he's informed that it was rejected on the ground that it does not fulfil all the requirements. Is that a violation of his rights? Which rights are violated and why?
- 2. A local newspaper has been publishing stories that talks about how women are weak and are not smart enough to become doctors. The newspaper was shut down by the government. Is that a violation of their rights? Which rights are violated and why?
- 3. An unmarried young man of 27 years old wants to run for the presidency of the advisory council of his sector. After submitting his candidature, he is told by the authority in charge that his candidature is not accepted because he is young and unmarried. Is that a violation of his rights? Which rights are violated and why?



MODULE II: POLITICAL CONTEXT AND YOUTH PARTICIPATION IN **DEMOCRATIC GOVERNANCE**

Definition, brief history and understanding of democracy

As defined in the previous module, the word democracy comes from the Greek words demos - meaning people, and kratos – meaning power. As a result, democracy is broadly understood as "the rule of the people" – a system of making rules put together by the very people who must obey them.

Throughout history democracy has taken on many different meanings and been expressed by different forms, theories, and models. The principles we now associate with modern democracy developed gradually out of the religious and social movements of 17th century Europe. Later, during the Enlightenment Period (18th Century), the philosophy of freedom and equality for all first emerged, which today comprise the some of the core values of democracy. Democracy is therefore strongly related to the principles of human rights, and cannot function without assuring the full respect and protection of human dignity.

Two fundamental principles form the basis of our understanding of democracy. These are the principles of individual autonomy and of equality. The principle of individual autonomy suggests that no one should be subject to rules that have been imposed by others, whereas the principle of equality means that everyone should have the same opportunity to influence the decisions that affect people in society. Democracy therefore lies in stark contrast to other systems, such as oligarchy, plutocracy or dictatorship. These systems usually violate these two principles by giving power only to a certain sector of society, which makes decisions on behalf of the rest of the population, without enabling their participation or input.

Democracy involves the equal right of all people to participate in and be represented by government. It is also about the equal inclusion of all people – the right to be fully included in the civic life of one's community, region, or state. A State or government cannot deny any citizen the right to be included and to participate,

"Everyone has the right to take part in the government of his country, directly or through freely chosen representatives." - Universal Declaration of Human Rights

Although a person can decide for him or herself how actively they exercise this right. Another important element of democratic governance is the notion of pluralism.

Pluralism implies affirming that people with different currents of human experience can live together in dignity, under the rule of law, with diversity seen as a source of strength and resiliency. Nobody with a justified claim to citizenship or other forms of legal residence can be denied inclusion and human dignity.

Democracy therefore depends on the interest and active participation of its beneficiaries. Being informed and having access to knowledge is an important precondition to meaningful participation in a democratic system. Only people with a basic understanding of how the system works and knowledge of State mechanisms and institutions can contribute to and benefit from a democratic society. Through education and information, individuals can become responsible citizens who are able to participate in and demand accountability from their government.

NAR's understanding of democracy is closely linked to the promotion and protection of human rights and fundamental freedoms. However, definitions, understanding, and theories of democracy have changed throughout time. In fact, there is no single, identifiable form of democracy, and no perfect democracy exists.

Principles of Democracy

- 1. Citizen Participation: One of the basic signposts of an active and vibrant democracy is citizen participation in government. Participation is the key role of citizens in democracy. It is not only their right, but it is their duty. Citizen participation may take many forms including standing for election, voting in elections, becoming informed, debating issues, attending community or civic meetings, being members of private voluntary organizations, paying taxes, and even protesting. Participation builds a better democracy.
- 2. Equality: Democratic societies emphasize the principle that all people are equal. Equality means that all individuals are valued equally, have equal opportunities, and may not be discriminated against because of their race, religion, ethnic group, gender or sexual orientation. In a democracy, individuals and groups still maintain their right to have different cultures, personalities, languages and beliefs.
- 3. Political Tolerance: Democratic societies are politically tolerant. This means that while the majority of the people rule in a democracy, the rights of the minority must be protected. People who are not in power must be allowed to organize and speak out.

Minorities are sometimes referred to as the opposition because they may have ideas which are different from the majority. Individual citizens must also learn to be tolerant of each other. A democratic society is often composed of people from different cultures, racial, religious and ethnic groups who have viewpoints different from the majority of the population. A democratic society is enriched by diversity.

If the majority deny rights to and destroy their opposition, then they also destroy democracy. One goal of democracy is to make the best possible decision for the society. To achieve this, respect for all people and their points of view is needed. Decisions are more likely to be accepted, even by those who oppose them, if all citizens have been allowed to discuss, debate and question them.

- 4. Accountability: In a democracy, elected and appointed officials have to be accountable to the people. They are responsible for their actions. Officials must make decisions and perform their duties according to the will and wishes of the people, not for themselves.
- 5. Transparency: For government to be accountable, people must be aware of what is happening in the country. This is referred to as transparency in government. A transparent government holds public meetings and allows citizens to attend. In a democracy, the press and the people are able to get information about what decisions are being made, by whom and why.
- 6. Regular, Free and Fair Elections: One way citizens of the country express their will is by electing officials to represent them in government. Democracy insists that these elected officials are chosen and peacefully removed from office in a free and fair manner.

Intimidation, corruption and threats to citizens during or before an election are against the principles of democracy, In a democracy, elections are regularly held, Between four to six years depending on the parliamentary regulations.

Participation in elections is not be based on a citizen's wealth. For free and fair elections to occur, most adult citizens should have the right to stand for government office. Additionally, obstacles should not exist which make it difficult for people to vote.

- 7. **Economic Freedom:** People in a democracy have various forms of economic freedom. This means that the government allows forms of private ownership of property and businesses, and that people can choose their own work and have the choice to join labour unions. The role the government should play in the economy is open to debate, but it is generally accepted that free markets should exist in a democracy and the state should not totally control the economy. Some argue that the state should play a stronger role in countries where greater inequality of wealth exists due to past discrimination or other unfair practices.
- 8. Control of the Abuse of Power: Democratic societies try to prevent any elected official or group of people from misusing or abusing their power. One of the most common abuses of power is corruption. Corruption occurs when government officials use public funds for their own benefit or exercise power in an illegal manner. Various methods have been used in different countries to protect against these abuses. Frequently the government is structured to limit the powers of the branches of government: to have independent courts and agencies with power to act against any illegal action by an elected

- official or branch of government; to allow for citizen participation and elections; and to check for police abuse of power.
- 9. Bill of Rights: Many democratic countries also choose to have a bill of rights to protect people against abuse of power. A bill of rights is a list of rights and freedoms guaranteed to all people in the country. When a bill of rights becomes part of a country's constitution, the courts have the power to enforce these rights. A bill of rights limits the power of government and may also impose duties on individuals and organizations.
- 10. Accepting the Results of Elections: In democratic elections, there are winners and losers. Often the losers in an election believe so strongly that their party or candidate is the best one that they refuse to accept the results of the election. This goes against democratic principles. The consequences of not accepting the result of an election may be a government that is ineffective and cannot make decisions. It may even result in violence which is not part of the principles governing a democracy.
- 11. Human Rights: All democracies strive to respect and protect the human rights of citizens. Human rights refer to those values that reflect a respect for human life and human dignity. Democracies emphasize the value of every human being. Examples of human rights include freedom of expression, freedom of association, freedom of assembly, the right to equality and the right to education.
- 12. Multi-Party System: In order to have a multi-party system, more than one political party must participate in elections and play a role in government. A multi-party system allows for an opposition to the party, which wins the election. This helps provide the government with different viewpoints on issues. Additionally, a multiparty system provides voters with a choice of candidates, parties and policies to vote for. Historically, when a country only has one party, the consequence has been a dictatorship.
- 13. The Rule of Law: In a democracy no one is above the law, not even a king or an elected President. It means that everyone must obey the law and be held accountable if they violate it. Democracy also insists that the law be enforced equally, fairly and consistently.. This is sometimes referred to as the "due process of law."

Youth participation and leadership (duties and responsibilities) in the democratic process

- "The promotion of an enabling environment (legal frameworks, policies and plans) for young people's participation in a broad range of processes and areas (electoral and parliamentary processes, public administration and local governance, including in peacebuilding environments) at local, subnational and national levels:
- The promotion of young people's skills and capacities to participate actively in democratic practices, including in local, national, and global processes (leadership trainings)
- The promotion of young women, youth participation and presence in political office and decisionmaking at all levels, the participation of young women -through both elected and non-elected positions.

Youth engagement in policy and decision-making processes

According to the Youth Sector Strategic Plan 2013-2018, youth make up the majority of the population in Rwanda, they make 67% of labour force. The need for youth civic engagement, participation and decision-making involvement extends beyond being only a social issue but also an economic and political issue, with far reaching implications for on-going efforts of reconciliation and peace building, income generation, political stability, economic growth and development.

Youth engagement in policy and decision-making processes

"In Rwanda today, despite numerous efforts by different actors, the youth remain a passive audience in decision making processes and public policy formulation processes and are not representative in either processes; with youth being represented by only 2 legislators in parliament, their limited capacity to take informed decisions and, with minimal involvement in advocacy and lobbying drives; all the above is aggravated by a lack of or limited access to information for informed engagement in decision making processes and public policy formulation" (Never Again Rwanda).

Gender equality and democracy

Gender equality in Rwanda was rated by the World Economic Forum as being the sixth-highest in the world in 2015. After the 1994 genocide, Rwanda has promoted gender equality. The progress of promoting gender equality in Rwanda is driven by a strong commitment from the central government. Rwanda was the first country in the world to have women occupy over half of all seats in its national legislature.

In 2015, 61.3% of Rwanda's Lower House of Parliament were women, the highest proportion anywhere in the world, and one of only two such bodies where women were in the majority, the other being Bolivia's Lower House of Parliament. Though the number of females in the Parliament is large, women are still under-represented in other political institutions.

In a sense the link between women's representation and democracy should be self-evident, since women account for over half the population of most societies: if the majority doesn't have full political rights, the society is not emphatically equal. But for much of history, this proposition did not seem at all self-evident; until well into the 20th century, women did not even have the right to vote. Winning the vote meant overcoming traditional norms that varied from culture to culture but nearly always excluded women from politics.

These same cultural changes seem to be closely linked with the rapid spread of democratic institutions that have occurred in the last two decades. The syndrome of survival/self-expression values reflects a set of coherent changes away from absolute social norms, toward increasing tolerance, trust, participatory orientations and self-expressive values. The shift from Materialistic toward Post-materialistic values is a move from emphasizing economic and physical security as the top priorities, towards ever increasing emphasis on freedom of expression and a more participatory role in society in general and politics in particular.

Democratic Theory and Gender

The value of democracy resides in its ability to promote ideals of human excellence. Citizen participation in public affairs reinforces solidarity, respect for personal autonomy and dignity, and egalitarian and tolerant attitudes. Only when all citizens, including women, have real access to political representation will they be able to direct these qualities towards the full development of society. In this sense, democratic theory should affirm the paramount necessity of both women's and men's participation under equal conditions. Three aspects of democratic governance are analysed here with respect to their implications for gender equity.

First, democracy can be defined as governance with the consent of the governed. Free and full consent can exist only when citizens are able to choose from diverse alternatives.

However, democracies even today may not allow this expression of individual will and autonomy if women have limited alternatives for channelling their political participation. A century ago, women rarely participated in the establishment of their governments or the creation of judicial systems, state powers or governmental norms and policies. Until the 1950s -c, women were unable to elect public officials. Women lacked real, effective, viable alternatives for expressing their consent. Furthermore, despite the acquisition of suffrage, women rarely have the option to vote for female, rather than male, representatives because the rules of the political game make women's access to elected positions difficult. The extremely limited presence of female representatives in legislative organs and, consequently, in the process of debating and adopting laws casts doubts on whether women have consented to governance.

Second, democracy has also been viewed as the system that best permits the expression and satisfaction of individual preferences. It likens the political system to a market wherein candidates freely offer their political positions and citizens freely express their political demands by casting their vote for their preferred political platform or candidate. This view assumes that democracy's own laws will guarantee free and equal conditions to all competitors. However, when women's relative position in this competition is gauged, it becomes evident that the social prerequisites for perfect competition do not exist.

In most democracies, only those who have access to the financial, organizational and informational resources necessary can aspire to candidacy, thus restricting the conditions of perfect competition implied in democratic theory. Democracy requires that men and women have unrestricted access to spaces of power where they can realize their political value and where their individual demands and preferences can be manifested and satisfied.

Third, political pluralism in democratic regimes should ensure a rotation of the groups in power. The government receives balances and adjudicates diverse interests. Through regular elections, separation of powers and checks and balances, democracies prevent one power or interest group from dominating public life. The pluralist conception of democracy has not been realized in gender terms. A gender analysis reveals that men, as a group, have maintained control of the instruments of power throughout history, thereby adversely affecting the equilibrium of the system. The absence of women in political debates and the decision-making process distorts the appreciation of women's interests. Women's interests are not clearly articulated because male representatives and their interest groups do not possess adequate and appropriate knowledge or interest or both.



MODULE III: LEADERSHIP SKILLS AND RESPONSIBLE DECISION-MAKING



This session is about raising awareness on the importance of responsible and critical thinking. It uses practical approaches to support youth freely expressing their thoughts and critical opinions. It's also an introduction to mediation and communication as a tool to resolve conflicts which is core to leadership. Practical exercises place emphasis on perspectives that change to get a wider view on conflicts and alternatives.

CRITICAL THINKING

Participatory element/ active involvement:

Group stands in a circle: First the trainer gives a statement that involves 'critical thinking' or obedience aspects, for example:

You have been affected by a rumor on facebook or other social media? - You have seen conflicts you don't understand? - You have followed rules, you don't believe are correct? -Sometimes following a routine is the easiest way to react.

Everyone, who has already experienced it or agrees with the statement, goes in the middle. At this stage no explanations are required!



What is critical thinking?

- critical means "crucial" and "highly relevant" rather than "criticizing"
- critical means "able to discern"
- critical Thinking is NOT cynicism or negativism
- critical Thinking is NOT just refusing certain topics
- "Critical thinking is disciplined thinking that is clear, rational, open-minded, and informed by evidence."
- "Critical thinking is reasonable reflective thinking focused on deciding what to believe or do."
- "Critical thinking is the willingness to remain open to considering alternative perspectives, the willingness to integrate new or revised perspectives into our ways of thinking and acting, and the willingness to foster criticality in others."

Critical thinking is a method which fosters:

Evidence based thinking

Plurality of opinions/perspectives and the acceptance of different realities

Open mindedness

(Self) reflection

How does critical thinking contribute to peacebuilding and responsible thinking members of society?

Development of empathy

which overcomes stereotypes and prejudices, contributing to creating open spaces for discussion and dialogue

Evidence-based thinking

which helps to reduce the influence of rumours in the region

Overcoming overly strong obedience as a conflict factor

which lessens the potential for manipulation and increases personal agency

Empowering youth to become active change makers

which contributes to democracy and good governance

Evidence-based thinking - What is evidence?

When using critical thinking, arguments have to be supported by evidence – we need to be able to respond to the question:

"How do you know, that what you are saying is true?" and "Where did you get this idea from?"

Definition of evidence:

"The data on which a judgment or conclusion might be based or by which proof or probability might be established."

"The availability of facts or information, indicating whether a belief or a proposition is true or valid."

Worksheet - Do you know a critical thinker? (Page 10 critical thinking tool kit)

Form of the exercise: Story Telling

This exercise aims at identifying examples of critical thinking within our direct environment – in order to make it something more tangible, real and achievable. It can be very helpful to reflect on how e.g. children, students or other members of society already use critical thinking.

It also helps us to change perspective, as those people are most commonly not the ones we "look up to" as the most outstanding master minds and role models of history, but are rather like ourselves.

Needed material

Flipchart and Markers or Blackboard and Chalk

Time needed: 20 min

This activity can be done at the beginning, after explaining and discussing what critical thinking means.

Guidina Question

Think of one of your friends or siblings who is a critical thinker – what makes this person a critical thinker? Give an example of when he/she used critical thinking.

Steps to be taken by the facilitator

Preparation:

The facilitator should note the question, e.g. on the blackboard. It might be good if you, as a facilitator, briefly remind yourself of what critical thinking is and which elements of critical thinking are the most important as a participatory member of society and a role model towards leading skills.

Facilitation:

The facilitator introduces the session by explaining that critical thinking is a very complex issue when looking at definitions. But if we have a closer look, we can find that some of our friends, siblings, even young children are sometimes using it already. Hence the exercise asks participants to reflect on their environment and identify examples/instances of critical thinking.

The facilitator poses the guiding question to the participants and asks them to take 10 minutes to reflect and note down an example.

"Think of one of your friends or siblings who is a critical thinker – what makes this person a critical thinker?

Give an example of when he/she used critical thinking?"

Afterwards volunteers are welcome to share and discuss their stories with the group.

What the facilitator should be aware of

The focus of the exercise is to identify critical thinking in those people who are either close in age and status, and those who are younger or older. Hence here we should not refer to idols, heroes or role models like Mandela. This exercise should focus on identifying those critical thinkers which are comparative to the participants hence which we can identify more easily with.

Why do we need Critical Thinking?

One of the central questions to critical thinking is WHY? So we also have to ask ourselves this question when it comes to the use of critical thinking – why should we use critical thinking? Why does it help us? Why not stick to our usual way of doing things? Here are some of the potential answers to this question - even though there might be many more to be explored within the group in a brainstorming session.

- Critical Thinking helps to separate yourself from the issue, step into the shoes of others and hence to overcome biases.
- It helps people to be curious and get to know reasons.
- Questioning, reflection and analysis support people in taking informed and reflective decisions.
- Through critical thinking, people are encouraged to think about the consequences of their actions...
- Critical thinking skills, enable people contribute to economic growth, development and democracy.

Without critical thinking, it is more easy to exploit and manipulate people - e.g. to use violence.

- Critical thinking can help to overcome one-sided ideologies, stereotypes and prejudices and hence live in a more peaceful and respectful society.
- Critical thinking contributes to personal growth in terms of empowerment. A critical thinker takes responsibility for his/her actions and decisions.

How does critical thinking contribute to development, peacebuilding and being an active member of society?

Empathy, Appreciation for Diversity and Open Mindedness

Reflecting and being open to the reasoning of other people (including those with opposite opinions) fosters empathy and the possibility to take into consideration other viewpoints, needs and values (which is an important tool in conflict transformation).

Hence one of the changes we want to see is that participants are aware that stories and experiences of the same situation can be different for each individual, depending on how he/she has experienced it. They are open to accept other perceptions. As a precondition to this, participants develop the capacity to be open to other views and opinions, to consider them and to reflect on other reasons, values, opinions, needs and actions, even if they don't share them.

Examples of how to achieve empathy and open mindedness: projects which encourage exchange with participants from different backgrounds on their views and opinions, building team spirit across borders and backgrounds and developing a mutual understanding and respect. Discussions encourage empathy and open-mindedness and provide room for diverging opinions, challenging opinions alongside trying to understand the views and positions of others.

Stereotypes and Prejudices

Within the process of developing critical thinking skills, participants can develop the ability to reflect and overcome stereotypes and prejudices. Hence participants are aware of the stereotypes they have and can reflect on their judgments.

Through an exchange of experiences, participants analyse other experiences and stories which challenge their own stereotypes and are willing to overcome prejudices against others.

Rumours' and Evidence

Participants base their opinions and actions on evidence – they have the capacity to analyse evidence and compare. . They are also aware that there can be evidence of opposing arguments. Through their ability to reflect on the validity of information given to them, participants can more easily identify rumours as such.

Blind Obedience/ Self responsibility/ Reflecting Skills/ Manipulation

Critical thinkers does not act instantly based on information which is given without evidence. They first reflect on the messages, information and instructions given to them by the media, their elders, authorities and, teachers.

Next, through acquired reflectiveness, an awareness of underlying values and moral development, participants take-on responsibility for their own actions, instead of referring to obedience ("I was told to do so – so I'm not responsible"). Through this, the probability of participants being manipulated by conflict actors is decreasing, which helps to prevent potential violent conflict. In discussions, participants are encouraged by the facilitators to provide evidence for their arguments.

Positive Change in society

Thinking critically about the system in which one lives can empower this person to change it. In this sense critical thinking is the first step to changing a society, because one can only change something that he or she sees and understands.

Through open discussions, participants learn from the experiences of others. They become active participants of existing forums - where they bring their own ideas and hence contribute to societal change and development (for example: Umuganda, Family, Schools, and Policy forums at local level). The participants are discussing their opinions on development and peacebuilding issues – as such, they use critical thinking in order to develop a better understanding of how they can contribute.

Examples of socratic questions as one important tool, to open minddeness and responsible thinking:

What do you mean? Can you give an example?

> WHY do you think so? What do you assume when saying so?

HOW do you know this is true? What else do we need to know?

Is there an alternative to thinking like this? What caused you to think this way?

Where did you get the idea from?

What would be the consequence of thinking like this?

An example for a debate – a moral delimma:

Joe is a fourteen-year-old boy who very much wanted to go camping. His father promised him that if he saved up enough money for it, he could go. So Joe worked very hard at the market and saved up the forty dollars to go to the camp, and a little extra on top. But just before the camp was about to start, his father changed his mind. Some of his friends decided to go on a special work trip, and Joe's father was short of money.. So he asked Joe to give him the money he had saved from the market. Joe didn't want to give up the opportunity to go camping, and thought of about refusing his father's request.

Guiding question:

- Should Joe refuse to give his father the money? Why or why not?
- Does the father have the right to tell Joe to give him the money? Why or why not?
- Is the fact that Joe earned the money himself important in this situation? Why or why not?

- The father promised Joe he could go to the camp if he earned the money. Is the fact that the father 'promised' the most important aspect in this situation? Why or why not?
- In general, why should a promise be kept?
- Is it important to keep a promise to someone you don't know well and probably won't see again? Why or why not?
- In general, what should be the authority of a father over his son? Why?

Methods for participating/shaping and reflecting on own opinions; e.g. Barometer of values

How the Barometer of Values can be used to foster critical thinking?

The barometer of values is an interactive and participatory method, which engages the whole group and encourages each participant to actively and visibly take a position with regards to a provoking statement. Participants, who have opposite opinions, are facing each other as groups, which encourage an active discussion between the two. Hence the method can help to spark a discussion. It can also be used before and after a session in order to evaluate whether participants changed their mind through the discussions held.

Which material can be used?

Based on the topic which is to be discussed, a provoking statement should be formulated by the

Here the facilitator can use his/her creativity. It is Important, that this statement is not only very provocative, but also very controversial within the group. The method works best, if there are naturally two different sets of positions (one supporting the statement and one opposing it) within the group, as this encourages the strongest debate.

An example could be, when having a discussion on identity and the importance of family or for example in this training on which "Human right" is the most important?

How to do it?

- For example at the beginning of a session: The facilitator presents the group with a provocative and controversial statement, which he prepared in advance and which refers to the general topic of the
- The group is asked to take a position: Everyone who supports the statement goes to the left side, everyone who is against the statement goes to the right and those who don't want to take a position stay in the middle.
- The facilitator first asks the group on the left side, why they support the statement. Then continues with the group on the right, asking why they don't support it. Both groups have some time to exchange their arguments.

Afterwards the group in the middle is asked for their opinion.

- Those participants who have been convinced by one of the arguments, are allowed to change their position (e.g. from left to right or vice versa).
- At the end of the session: The same barometer can be repeated, again asking participants whom among them changed their opinion and why.

Practical Excersise for a debate about "Human rights":

Preperation:

Refer to the first day where participants learned about different human rights and ask them what they remember.

Divide them in smaller groups and give them a list of the human rights.

To then ask which rights are most important for them and why. Every group has to prioritize 5 human rights, they think are most important for the members of this group.

Finally, present their descisions to the whole group.

- 1. We Are All Born Free & Equal. We are all born free. We all have our own thoughts and ideas. We should all be treated in the same way.
- 2. Don't Discriminate. These rights belong to everybody, whatever the differences.
- 3. The Right to Life. We all have the right to life, and to live in freedom and safety.
- 4. No Slavery. Nobody has any right to make us a slave. We cannot make anyone our slave.

- 5. No Torture. Nobody has any right to hurt us or to torture us.
- 6. You Have Rights No Matter Where You Go. I am a person just like you!
- 7. We are all equal Before the Law. The law is the same for everyone. It must treat us all fairly.
- 8. Your Human Rights Are Protected by Law. We can all ask for the law to help us when we are not treated fairly.
- 9. No Unfair Detainment. Nobody has the right to put us in prison without good reason and keep us there, or to send us away from our country.
- 10. The Right to Trial. If we are put on trial this should be in public. The people who try us should not let anvone tell them what to do.
- 11. Innocent Till Proven Guilty. Nobody should be blamed for doing something until it is proven. When people say we did something harmful we have the right to show it is not true.
- 12. The Right to Privacy. Nobody should try to harm our good name. Nobody has the right to come into our home, open our letters, or bother us or our family without a good reason.
- 13. Freedom to Move. We all have the right to go where we want in our own country and to travel as
- 14. The Right to Seek a Safe Place to Live. If we are frightened of being badly treated in our own country, we all have the right to move away to another country to be safe.
- 15. Right to a Nationality. We all have the right to belong to a country

Challenges and Limits of critical thinking

As important, as critical thinking might be, it also comes with limits and challenges.

In order to be a responsible critical thinker, it is important to be aware of these challenges. When supporting youth in developing their ability to think independently and critically; it is also important to provide them with the ability to decide for themselves when and how they want to share their thoughts.

In preparation for such discussions, and also in preparation to any activities fostering critical thinking, it can be helpful to identify the challenges which exist in the given framework and how they can be tackled in a way which still allows critical thinking. A helpful distinction can be made between what people think and what they share, with whom and in what ways. It might be helpful to develop your own thoughts, but you may decide not to share them in the same way with all audiences and think about how to combine them with conflict transformation skills or mediation.

Guiding questions for group discussion:

- When is critical thinking limiting us or causing harm?
- Are there situations in which we should not use critical thinking? Why?
- Can we also decide not to think critically? For example in which situations?

Notes for the trainer:

- Doubts about oneself, insecurity through the questioning of basic values and ideologies.
- Emotional stress through the uncommon/new way of thinking and acting especially where it doesn't lead to directly felt benefits of successes and achievements.
- The questioning might in general create a feeling of insecurity and fear, as common structures and guidelines of what to believe in or do are valid questions.
- The process of critical thinking is connected to emotional stress and potentially negative emotions. Hence participants may try to avoid it.
- As critical thinking is focused on problem solving, , it may lead to a greater awareness of the problem, which might result in a more pessimistic world view, as the critical thinker is now, more than before, aware of the problems surrounding him/her.
- Critical thinking helps a person to take responsibility for their own actions, to be reflective and rational in taking decisions. However, it provides more questions, than answers, which might be frustrating.

Social challenges:

The social environment might react with irritation and rejection to changing attitudes and behaviours of a person who starts using critical thinking more in their life. This might be specifically true for persons of authority (such as parents, local leaders or teachers).

Critical thinking might lead someone to change his/her behaviour or attitude which might create a conflict with the current norms of certain groups he/she is a part of. Hence he/she may be viewed as a 'rebel' or trouble maker and possibly loose their position in the group/ or no longer be accepted by the group.

Despite the many challenges, which the process of critical thinking brings about, it is important to also be aware of the many opportunities it provides.

As is often the case with critical thinking, there is no clear answer when to use it and how, and when not to.

This should be the decision of each person, based on their own reflection. When working with students on 'critical thinking', it is important to support and mentor them by giving them the space to discuss their challenges and learn from each other on how to deal with them.

In the process of critical thinking, an on-going discussion on the experiences and challenges of using critical thinking should guide the participants through the process.

Importantly, discussions with authorities (for example: the team of teachers and the school management or parents) on an understanding and importance of critical thinking, could be useful. It is very helpful to link critical thinking skills with negotiation, mediation and conflict transformation skills (page 14 critical thinking toolkit).

Confidence building and public debate

Public debates help youth gain effective communication skills that enhance their confidence and allow them to communicate with a clear conscience. Never Again Rwanda wants to get young men and women across Rwanda debating issues. We want to see youth talking to each other about the sort of country they want to live in, and working together to build a better society. But why should you want to get involved?

Debating is a great platform in democracy for society members to share various views. It also teaches youth how to communicate. Communication skills are vital to future career opportunities.

If you can't express your ideas to other people, if you can't make them understand what you think and feel, you may experience problems. Debating teaches you to organize your ideas so you can express them clearly. Debating also gives you the poise and self-confidence you need to stand up and explain your opinions.

Debating will teach you about the issues and controversies facing Rwandan society today. Through debating, you'll learn about development, human rights, and democracy and - most of all - it will help you make up your own mind about what Rwanda's future should look like.

Debate doesn't teach you what to think, it teaches you how to think. It teaches you to examine information and ideas closely and critically. A person, who can debate, can analyse an opinion and pick out the good aspects. Debating teaches you to see the merits on both sides of an argument. It also trains you not to believe everything you read or hear, but to be critical and evaluate a point of view.

Activity A: The Balloon Debate (a great introductory game)

The Balloon Debate is a great game to play with a new group. It is fun, and a good ice breaker. It introduces various basic concepts of debate (essentially persuasion through style, content and structure) in a manageable, non-intimidating, amusing context.

Stage One

Each participant picks a famous character, either real or fictional (that way you're more likely to get entertaining characters, like Robert Mugabe and Tom Close). The characters are all in a balloon, but the balloon is sinking. There is too much weight. To stop it sinking, and save the lives of everyone, one person must go. The characters take it in turns to explain why they deserve to stay in the balloon. You may want to give them a time limit of perhaps three or four minutes for their speeches.

Points for discussion at this stage:

1. What is the point of the debate? Persuasion. In a debate you must persuade your audience that you are right, even if you are Hitler or Saddam Hussein, and even if you personally don't believe the reasons you are giving.

- How do you persuade someone?
- 2. Content. Give them reasons to believe/support you. Debate is all about reasons what are the worthy reasons, how do we think of upright reasons, how do we express decent reasons, how do we explain why something isn't a worthy reason...
- 3. Style. You need to make sure people can hear you, and that you maintain their attention (for example through, voice modulation, humour, speed and variation of pace, volume, body language).
- 4. Strategy. The only part of strategy you can really appreciate from this game is structure. You need to know where you are with your thoughts, and you need to let your audience (and your judges) know where you are. People who sound confused are rarely convincing:
 - Structure within arguments: An argument is convincing if it is clear what the point is, it is clear why it is true, and it is backed up with evidence. A structure within your argument can force you to do this, and make sure you keep your audience with you.
 - Structure of your entire speech: A speech with good structure produces a sense of coherence and understanding that is far more convincing than confusion. The structure of your speech includes using repetition; this helps your audience to remember your points.

CONCLUSION

When young people think of politics, they might think of corruption, inflexible bureaucracy, and the little power they have to change something around them. Rarely do young people see a place for themselves in the political processes of their country; this, in turn, seriously undermines the possibility of young people developing a real sense of responsibility. Youth participation is an integral part of democratic societies, but without a sense of responsibility, the social integration of youth and their cohesion in society would be impossible.

Young people prefer not to get involved in political processes because of different reasons. They might feel that the system has failed and will continue to fail, the lack of possible influence or options for changes or not enough confidence in their own skills and responsibility. Faced with the lack of educational opportunities, risks of diseases, unemployment, effects after genocide and armed conflicts, the majority of young people in this generation worry about how to survive instead of working to solve the problems of their society as a whole.

Although it is very important that development policies and democratic processes always take into consideration active participation of the people, especially in decision-making, such policies would not have a real impact without young people who take their responsibilities as citizens seriously.

In this context, the participation of young people means that they have a strong commitment to and understanding of human rights and democracy and are willing and able to work to ensure both. The active participation of youth would have no effect as just a principle written in policy documents, if young people do not take the lead and actively participate in development endeavours. This being the case, participation is very important for inclusive development to take place.

The Government of Rwanda needs to take into consideration the contributions of young people in all phases of national policies and plans that affect youth, starting from policy and program design all the way up through implementation and evaluation.

The Government also needs to improve access to information to enable young people to make better use of opportunities to participate in decision-making processes. However, if for any reason the government does not do this, there are still ways for young people to increase their influence, although it might take some time and patience.

The proper infrastructure for active youth participation has to be put in place in order for them to become a decisive force for social change. If the energy of youth is harnessed the right way, they can indeed be a strong and reliable backbone of positive social transformation and good governance. Governments should allow and promote the work of youth associations through financial, educational, moral, and technical support. Moreover, the government needs to take the needs of the youth into consideration by supporting changes in the processes that exist to enable young people's voices to be heard in the decision-making processes.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. NAR Human Rights and Democracy Handbook.pdf
- "Rankings, Global gender gap report 2015". World Economic Forum. 2015. Retrieved 7 July 2017.
- Paquette, Danielle (20 November 2015). "Rwanda is beating the United States in gender equality". Retrieved 10 May 2016.
- 4. Inter-Parliamentary Union (1 August 2015). "Women in national parliaments". Retrieved 10 July 2017.
- 5. https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Gender equality in Rwanda
- 6. https://www.hks.harvard.edu/fs/pnorris/Acrobat/Gender&democracy.pdf
- 7. http://freeofviolence.org/legislation/politicalpart.htm
- 8. http://lawanddemocracy.org/pdffiles/amazing.prin..pdf
- 9. http://paulkagame.com/index.php/news/1850-president-kagame-chosen-as-rpf-flag-bearer
- 10. https://www.thebalance.com/how-to-walk-your-talk-1916726
- 11. http://www.youthforhumanrights.org/what-are-human-rights/universal-declaration-of-humanrights/articles-1-15.html
- 12. https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/secondary-education-resources/lesson-plan-ideas/ lesson-8-what-are-human-rights
- 13. https://hbr.org/2014/08/the-best-leaders-talk-the-walk
- 14. http://www.umdcipe.org/conferences/Moscow/papers/Citizen_Participation_in_the_Local_Public_ Service Provision and Quality Improvement.pdf
- 15. http://reliefweb.int/report/rwanda/missing-mark-participation-prsp-process-rwanda
- 16. http://www.minecofin.gov.rw/fileadmin/templates/documents/sector_strategic_plan/Youth_Sub_ Sector_SSP.pdf
- 17. "Youth, Political Participation and Decision-Making." United Nations Youth. United Nations Development Program, n.d. Web. 7 July 2017.
- 18. "ERASING THE GENOCIDE FOOTPRINT ONE YOUTH AT A TIME." Never Again Rwanda, n.d. Web. 7 July 2017.
- 19. Thinking and Speaking a Better World. IDebate Rwanda, n.d. Web. 7 July 2017
- 20. Engaging Youth in Decision-Making: A Path toward Active Youth Citizenship in Eritrea, Rahel Weldeab, The Center for International Private Enterprise (CIPE), January 15, 2010
- 21. Never Again Rwanda & Interpeace, 2015, Governing with and for Citizens :Lessons from a Post-Genocide Rwanda, Kigali: NAR
- 22. British Council Uganda & Uganda Youth Network, 2013, Training manual on improving youth participation in governance and development in Uganda, Kampala: British Council Uganda
- 23. Commonwealth, 2014, Human Rights Training for Youth Trainers, London: Commonwealth Secretariat
- 24. Critical Thinking Toolkit for Facilitators by never again and partners (2016) + Critical session 2017 by GIZ and ZFD
- 25. Conflict Mediation Handbook Developed by Laura Vollmann August 2011 Updated by Martin Agsten – July 2013
- 26. INTERACTIVE TRAINING TECHNIQUES/ STAFF EDUCATION & DEVELOPMENT University of California, San Diego
- 27. G Alfredsson, 'The Usefulness of Human Rights for Democracy and Good Governance' in H Sano, G Alfredsson and R Clapp (eds.), (2002)
- 28. Human Rights and Good Governance: Building Bridges, p.19-27; P Sieghart (1986)
- 29. The Lawful Rights of mankind: An introduction to International legal order, Oxford/New York: Oxford University Press.

- 30. The Constitution of the Republic of Rwanda
- 31. The International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights
- 32. International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights
- 33. The Convention on the Rights of the Child
- 34. The African Charter on the Rights and Welfare of the Child
- 35. The Convention on the Elimination of All forms of Discrimination Against Women
- 36. The African Youth Charter
- 37. The African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights
- 38. Advisory Opinion OC-5/85, November 13, 1985 of the Inter-American Court of Human Rights on Compulsory Membership in an Association Prescribed by the Law for the Practice of Journalism.
- 39. Human Rights Committee General Comment No 34 on Article 19 Freedoms of opinion and expression. Paragraph 4.





- Rwanda **-**



Never Again Rwanda, 58 KG 9 Avenue Kigali Nyaruturama, Kigali-Rwanda I Phone: +250 788 386 688 info@neveragainrwanda.org I www.neveragainrwanda.org